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Coast Capital Savings, already Canada’s second largest credit union, merged in 2002 with Surrey Metro Savings

to form an even larger and stronger organization. Our commitment was that through the merger we would build an
even better credit union for British Columbians. ■ In this year’s annual report, we are beginning to define what

makes a better credit union — both today and in the future. ■ As we do this, we are ever mindful of the impact we

have on the world around us — the well-being of our employees, the financial success of our members, and the
viability of our surrounding communities. ■ The merger was an important achievement, and we have already seen
many benefits. However, this is just the beginning of our journey to become not only a better credit union,
but a great credit union. ■
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Employees ■ We provide flexible working options, like the one
that allows Elaine Dun to telecommute from her home in Burnaby
for part of the week and spend more time with her three children.

1,621 jobs
to choose fr om
We aim to be an employer of choice by encouraging and supporting professional and personal growth. We do

could apply for available positions across our branch and support office network. For some, that could mean

this through our many in-house training programs and by funding enrolment in various educational programs.

working closer to home and shortening commute time. For others, it could mean exploring more diverse career

Life-long learning and development not only helps our employees achieve personal success, but also ultimately

opportunities. ■ We believe in helping our employees create a healthy balance between their work and personal

means they serve our members better. ■ In planning our 2002 merger with Surrey Metro Savings, we made

lives. And we also offer internal programs, such as sessions on coping with stress, and weight loss groups,

a commitment that employees would benefit from more career opportunities and more mobility, along with

which promote healthier employees. ■ We’ll be working to make our employee programs even better in the future

continued support for training and development. From the entry-level branch position, right up to the CEO’s

by, for example, providing more flexible benefits programs and continuing to expand and improve our other

position, there are now more than 1,600 jobs at Coast Capital Savings. ■ Beginning early in 2003, employees

employee programs. ■

An Even Better Credit Union
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Members ■ Every year more of our members are finding it
increasingly convenient to turn to online services for many of their
financial transactions. Online banking via the Internet and direct
payment purchases are the two areas that have seen the highest
increases in use.

42,890,486
online transactions

Canadians are the most enthusiastic users of online banking services in North America, and Coast Capital Savings

our online statements and gave members the option to opt out of receiving a paper version. ■ Our focus will

members are part of the rising trend. ■ Last year our members conducted more than 42 million transactions

continue to be not just on the technology itself, but also on meeting our members’ needs by making it easy

online using their computers, the Internet, telephones, Automated Banking Machines, their debit cards, and kiosks

for them to do their banking with us through any one of our multiple channels — online, at one of our 42 branches,

in some branches. Some even manage their own investments on the web. Debit card transactions alone accounted

or through our call centres. And by routing most routine transactions through electronic channels, we can free

for 18 million transactions, and banking via personal computer increased by more than 100 per cent between

up our branch employees to spend more time providing face-to-face advice and service. We’ll also be striving to

last year and this year. ■ In 2002 we were one of the first financial institutions to introduce hyperWALLET, a new

ensure that the experience of doing business with us consistently meets our members’ expectations. ■

™

online service that lets consumers transfer funds person to person, or person to institution. We also improved
An Even Better Credit Union
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Community ■ As longtime supporters of United Way, the
employees of Coast Capital Savings help community-based
programs at local agencies such as Crescent Beach Community
Services’ Camp Alexandra, where 16-year old Lionel completed
a leadership program last year. He now has a job running a
games room so that kids like Andrew have a safe place to go
after school.

$1,577,863 do nated back
to our comm unities
We recognize that giving back to our communities helps make them better places to live and work. That’s why

United Way. In 2002, our employees donated over $212,000 to United Way and earned a Quantum Leap Spirit

last year we gave a total of $1.6 million to community-based, non-profit organizations that support the areas of

Award in the process for having achieved the highest year-over-year percentage donation increase. ■ We support

education, the environment, youth, health and wellness, arts and culture, seniors, civic improvement, and

our communities directly, too. For example, staff and Board members volunteer countless hours to community-

community development. Through our merger we were able to share ideas for new community programs and this

based groups; we sponsor various community events and programs; we participate in fundraising efforts; and,

has reinforced our strong commitment to the regions we serve — Vancouver Island, the Lower Mainland and

we often lend our expertise and leadership skills to non-profit agencies. We will not stop here. Now, as a larger

the Fraser Valley. ■ Our employees are just as generous. For many years, they have supported the efforts of

organization with more resources, we know that we can contribute even more to the communities we serve. ■

An Even Better Credit Union
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35 new
businesses
started with
our help
Corporate Citizenship ■ Charles Reid, a computer-aided
design specialist and an accomplished boccia and floor hockey
player, used the funds from an ABLED loan he received in 2001
to establish Innovative Design Products and Consulting Inc.,
a unique business that specializes in sports equipment for people
with disabilities.

Corporate citizenship is about being a good neighbour. And, just like any good neighbour, we’re ready to lend

Rising Tide and ABLED loans were used by entrepreneurs to start 35 new businesses. ■ We also develop partner-

a helping hand. Together with our community partners, we’ve made positive differences in the lives of those who

ships that improve the quality of life in our communities; for example, we purchase goods from suppliers who

live in the communities we serve. ■ Our balanced approach to corporate practices means we commit ourselves

share our community-minded values and are environmentally aware. The future will see us begin to expand our

to responsible financial, social and environmental practices. This approach is about being socially responsible

partnerships and programs throughout our service areas. ■ Business is becoming increasingly aware of social

and can be thought of as corporate citizenship in action. For example, we offer innovative lending programs —

responsibility by looking not just at what they do, but how they do it. We at Coast Capital Savings are committed

Rising Tide and ABLED (Advice and Business Loans for Entrepreneurs with Disabilities) — that help those who have

to corporate citizenship not because it’s good for business, but because it’s the right thing to do. ■

the entrepreneurial skills to succeed, yet don’t qualify for conventional credit. In 2002, more than $1 million in
An Even Better Credit Union
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Corporate Profile

Financial Highlights

Members’ Equity
(in thousands of dollars)
1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

145,948

158,006

147,771

167,192

201,032

200,000
160,000

Coast Capital Savings is the result of two recent mergers (Richmond Savings and Pacific Coast Savings in 2000

120,000

to form Coast Capital Savings, and then Coast Capital Savings and Surrey Metro Savings in June 2002) that have

80,000
40,000

not only expanded our geographic reach, but also our selection of products and services through our branches

0

and expanded subsidiary operations. With $6.1 billion in assets, we are the second largest credit union in Canada.

Our name and logo

Life Insurance and Estate Planning

As at December 31

The Board of Directors voted in 2002 to adopt the

Metro Financial Ltd. specializes in insurance and estate

Balance Sheet (in thousands of dollars)

Coast Capital Savings name and logo for the entire

planning. The products offered through this subsidiary

Assets

branch network. In the second half of 2003, members will

include: life insurance, disability insurance, critical

Loans

5,305,265

2,917,871

2,648,310

see new signage at Surrey Metro Savings locations

illness insurance, personal health insurance, annuities,

Deposits

5,606,339

3,054,937

2,962,817

to reflect this change. Over time, there will be other

employee benefits, pension plans, segregated funds,

Members’ equity

201,032

167,192

147,771

visible signs of the name change, and we will replace

planned giving and estate planning.

materials with logos as existing supplies run out to

Mutual Fund Dealer

Results of Operations (in thousands of dollars)

Coast Capital Investments, a partnership with Coast

Net interest income

Capital Savings, is Canada’s largest credit union-owned

Other income

mutual fund dealer. Advice, products and services

Non-interest expenses

Insurance

related to mutual funds and financial planning are

Net income

Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd. provides advice and

available, including access to more than 30 mutual fund

service related to segregated funds, annuities, general

families, representing over 1,000 mutual funds. Our

Financial Statistics (in per cent)

and life insurance products at 21 locations on Vancouver

investment professionals have the education, experience

save on related costs.

2002

$

$

6,062,372

126,742

2001

$

$

3,357,735

95,925

2000

$

$

3,163,243

89,937

57,795

46,736

47,346

147,005

112,042

109,298

26,322

18,811

11,271

Operating efficiency

79.66

78.54

79.62

and the resources available to tailor a customized

Return on average equity

14.38

11.94

7.43

products include auto, home, travel, marine, and liability

financial strategy that will help our clients build a solid

Return on average assets

0.55

0.58

0.36

and business policies. Examples of commercial insurance

financial future.

Principal Operating Subsidiaries and Divisions

Island and in the Lower Mainland. General insurance

products offered are: property, liability, contractor

Selected Average Balances (in thousands of dollars)
Leasing Division

Assets

The leasing division provides a wide range of asset-

Loans

4,200,555

2,783,091

2,647,664

based financing services to commercial customers

Deposits

4,407,634

3,008,877

2,966,795

Residential Real Estate Brokerage

through capital leases, conditional sales contracts, and

Borrowings

128,480

9,125

4,231

Coast Capital Real Estate Ltd. has 85 full-time real

loan and security agreements. Solutions are available to

Members’ equity

183,008

157,482

151,610

estate sales professionals working out of 12 locations.

cover a full range of assets, including commercial trucks

They serve as experts in all areas of Greater Victoria,

and trailers, construction equipment, buses, machine

from Sooke to Sidney. The real estate team has adopted

tools, truck cranes, aggregate processing equipment,

a “community first” concept and strives to help make

concrete pumps, and material handling equipment.

insurance, course of construction, bonding, and liability
insurance for directors and officers.

the region a better place to live by working with
organizations such as Victoria Habitat for Humanity
and the BC Children’s Hospital Foundation.

2002 balances and results reflect the June 2002 merger
between Coast Capital Savings and Surrey Metro Savings.

Real Estate Appraisals Division
The real estate appraisals division primarily prepares
residential and commercial mortgage appraisal reports

Specialized Financial Services

for a variety of clients on Vancouver Island, but also

U-Select Financial and Insurance Services Ltd. offers

performs appraisals for estates, expropriation, litigation

insurance, financial planning, deposit brokering

and financial planning for non-mortgage clients. Coast

and mortgage brokering services in the seven branches

Appraisals has three fully accredited appraisal experts,

located in Victoria, Mill Bay, Duncan, Lake Cowichan,

who also provide appraisal advice for our Mainland

Nanaimo and Chilliwack.

customers.

Corporate Profile
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$

4,798,744

$

3,260,489

$

3,163,892

A Message from the Board of Directors

2002 was a significant year for Coast Capital Savings and Surrey Metro Savings, as two of British Columbia’s
strongest credit unions successfully came together in the most significant, exciting and promising credit union
merger to date.

Surrey Metro Savings members voted between April 26

Our community support is expressed in a number of

Members were also asked to give their opinion via a

In closing, on behalf of the entire Board of Directors,

and May 17, 2002 and with overwhelming support

different ways — financially, in terms of donations,

member plebiscite on the form of member representation

I would like to thank management and all the employees

approved joining with Coast Capital Savings. The merger

sponsorships, educational awards, community economic

on the Board, specifically whether they were in favour of

of Coast Capital Savings for their outstanding contribu-

was effective on June 27, 2002. Surrey Metro Savings’

development and other partnerships, as well as through

regional or at large representation. Members voted 75

tions to a year that was successful in many ways. I would

non-voting shares were then de-listed from the Toronto

the time and effort contributed by our staff and Board

per cent overall in favour of regional representation.

also like to thank our members for their support and

Stock Exchange and a redemption program for the

members. In 2002, Coast Capital Savings and the Surrey

shares was initiated.

Metro Savings division together contributed $1.6 million

The merger made particularly good sense for a number
of reasons. The two credit unions’ market areas on
the Mainland were adjacent, which made for a logical
combination to provide expanded member service. We
shared similar values, among them the belief that we

In response to the results of the plebiscite, the Board
approved a policy that all members will vote for all

to communities on the Island and Mainland. These

directors, and that the Board will consist of a minimum

contributions serve to support the areas of education,

of eight directors residing on the Mainland and four

environment, youth, health and wellness, arts and

is the continued presence of our administrative offices

tive financial management, a differentiated customer

on the Island and in Richmond, formerly the joint head

Our mission and values remain the same

experience, leading-edge employee programs, and

offices of Coast Capital Savings. While our head office

Coast Capital Savings’ two founding credit unions,

involvement in and partnering with our communities.

has formally been established at the building we own in

Richmond Savings and Pacific Coast Savings, had rich,

Surrey, we are committed to maintaining regional

50-year histories and recorded many achievements.

administrative locations as anchors in our communities.

Surrey Metro Savings’ roots also go back over 50 years

of the Chief Executive Officer, followed by the CEO’s
selection of his executive team.
Support for our communities
Coast Capital Savings is committed to making a positive
difference in our communities, and with our continued
success comes the ability to increase our support for the
communities we serve — the same communities where
our members live and work. This is accomplished

and one-third on Vancouver Island.

serving communities throughout the Fraser Valley, from
Governance and the Board

Chilliwack to White Rock, and the credit union’s past

As part of the 2002 merger agreement, the initial size

successes and accomplishments have been well recog-

of the combined Board was set at 18 directors. This was

nized. By merging, we have significantly enhanced

accomplished with the retirement of four directors from

our future sustainability as a member-owned financial

the 16-person Coast Capital Savings Board just prior

institution. Together, Coast Capital Savings will become

to the actual merger date, and the subsequent addition

an even better credit union for our members, our

of six directors from the former Surrey Metro Savings

communities and our employees.

Board immediately after the June 27, 2002 effective

Every director elected to your Board lives in a community

merger date.

served by Coast Capital Savings and represents all the

through Coast Capital Savings’ balanced approach to

In the fall of 2002, members were asked for their input

members of the credit union. As a Board we make our

social responsibility — a genuine commitment to

on two important issues related to the Board of Directors.

decisions based on our core values: caring, communica-

responsible financial, social and environmental practices

A special resolution recommended by the Board of

tion, pride in our work, individual excellence and the

in everything we do.

Directors, and approved by members in a mail-in vote

need to embrace change to remain strong. Coast Capital

conducted in October and November, will allow for the

Savings is a locally-owned financial services provider,

number of directors to be reduced to 16 immediately

and we are committed to being a good corporate citizen

following the 2003 Annual General Meeting, to 14 in 2004

and to improving the financial well-being of our members

and then to 12 in 2005.

and communities.

Message from the Board of Directors

and forward-thinking organization.

membership of Coast Capital Savings is on the Mainland

of our heritage. And we remain committed to conserva-

two credit unions; first with the selection in July 2002

we work to ensure that the credit union remains a strong

representation acknowledges that two-thirds of the

tions and lending assistance for new entrepreneurs.
Another important form of support for our communities

hard to set the stage for the successful integration of the

changes. We will continue to honour our heritage as

directors residing on the Island. This change to member

culture, civic improvement, community-based organiza-

need to maintain the credit union principles that are part

Since the merger became a reality, we’ve been working

for remaining loyal to the credit union throughout these

12
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Bill Wellburn, CA
Chair, Board of Directors

A Message from the President and CEO

This letter is about who we are as an organization, where we are today and where we are headed. It’s also about
our vision to build an even better credit union by offering a customer experience that is truly great — in a word,
unrivalled. That involves a lot of change. Something that won’t change, however, is our focus on doing what’s
best for our members, our employees and our community.

Part of a growing trend

our operations and providing input to our future plans.

$29.3 million. Net income expressed as a return

at all points of access to fill any request and answer any

Consolidation in the credit union industry is an estab-

Our approach to integration will be thorough, and

on average assets was 0.55% in 2002, or 0.61% before

question. We have a multi-channel delivery system

lished trend. The number of individual credit unions in

we will take the time needed to make the right decisions.

merger-related transition expenses as compared to

that allows members to deal with us where they choose

British Columbia continues to decline — now down to

We will communicate any changes that could affect

0.58% in 2001, or 0.68% before merger-related expenses.

and when they choose to — be it at any one of our 42

62 from 111 in 1990 and 328 in 1961. At the same time,

members well in advance, and ensure all changes are

As operating efficiencies from the merger take effect,

branches, at one of our 76 Automated Banking Machines,

however, B.C. credit union system assets continue to

carefully tested.

we expect profitability will continue to improve.

via the Internet, or through our automated or personal

One of our most important integration projects will be

As at December 31, 2002, Coast Capital Savings had

This consolidation is not occurring for its own sake,

the combination of information from our two separate

a total regulatory capital ratio of 8.27% of risk-weighted

but for sound reasons.

banking systems — this is the technology that manages all

assets. While this is above the minimum requirement

transactions. Until we are operating on one system, the

of 8.00%, we are targeting a 9.00% minimum in our

ability to do inter-branch transactions (i.e. Surrey Metro

capital plan.

grow, now standing at $26 billion.

We operate in a mature market that is oversupplied;
we have more competitors today than ever before.
In addition, a more sophisticated clientele demands
the same products and services — including costly

Savings transaction at a Coast Capital Savings branch

Our overall goal throughout integration is to build a

heavily resourced financial institutions. Individual credit

business model that makes it easy for our members to do

unions have difficulty funding these enhancements

business with us: a model that drives alignment of all

on their own.

our employees and processes to this objective, placing

We believe that consolidation in the B.C. credit union
system, and for that matter across the country, should
and will continue. We endorse this trend, believe it
necessary for the system’s continued vitality, and are
committed to making Coast Capital Savings the preferred
credit union partner in the years ahead.
I feel privileged to have been given the opportunity
to lead this effort. I am fortunate to be supported by an
outstanding executive team, a dedicated Board of
Directors, and committed, hard-working employees.
Integration approach
The merger was effective in June and the remainder of
the year was used to confirm leadership and set the stage

January 1, 2003 and we project the integration process
to take all of 2003. A team of employees from the two
previous credit unions is participating in a review of

50 Best

by the opportunities that lie ahead of us, and look

We were also pleased to learn late in 2002 that Coast

forward to the year ahead.

Award, especially so soon after our merger. The award
recognizes best business practices in the areas of leadership, strategy, culture, brand and knowledge.
We believe this achievement is confirmation that

Financial performance

we’re on the right track with the merger, our vision, our

As we look ahead, it’s also gratifying to look back on an

management practices, and our ongoing concern for

excellent year of financial performance.

our members, employees and communities.

Prior to the legal merger date of June 27th, Coast Capital

Looking ahead

Savings and Surrey Metro Savings operated as separate

While we are in the midst of our merger integration,

entities. Since then, Surrey Metro Savings has operated

we also know that we still have a business to run and,

as a division of Coast Capital Savings. The financial

most importantly, that we must continue to meet our

statements reflect Coast Capital Savings for 12 months

members’ service expectations.

combined with Surrey Metro Savings for six months,
from June 27, 2002 until year-end.

assets totalled $6.1 billion at December 31, 2002.

We have recognized that our main point of distinction
from other financial institutions is our personal and
individualized member service. Starting in late 2002, we
have begun to implement a Customer Relationship

We are pleased with Coast Capital Savings’ net income

Management (CRM) system. CRM will eventually ensure

of $26.3 million for 2002. Excluding merger-related

that the appropriate member information is available

transition expenses, net income would have been

Message from the President & CEO

I know I speak on behalf of everyone associated with

honour for all of us to have been selected for the 50 Best

internal growth.

integration team began their activities in earnest on

constituents.

Canada’s 50 Best Managed Companies. It is a tremendous

and a model that will support future mergers, as well as

With the merger and continued growth for the year,

create the economic benefits of expansion for all

Capital Savings had once again been named as one of

the member firmly in the centre of everything we do;

for the integration of business practices. Our merger

us remain close to our members as we grow in size to

Coast Capital Savings when I say that we are energized

and vice versa) will be limited.

technology — offered by the much larger and more

contact telephone centre. The CRM system will help

14
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Lloyd Craig
President & Chief Executive Officer

Management’s Discussion & Analysis

Return on Average Assets (ROAA)
(%)
1998

1999

Return on Average Equity (ROAE)
(%)
2000

2001

2002

0.50

15.00

0.40

12.00

This section of the Annual Report contains details of the operations and financial condition of Coast

0.30

9.00

Capital Savings Credit Union (CCS), as well as management’s discussion of various forms of risk inherent in its

0.20

6.00

0.10

3.00

operations. A section providing a detailed analysis of CCS’s capital structure is also included.

0.00
0.42

0.36

Introduction

Overview of 2002

Analysis of Net Interest Income

CCS was initially formed when Pacific Coast Savings

CCS maintained its strong momentum and achieved

(in thousands of dollars)

Credit Union, located in Victoria, British Columbia,

exceptional asset growth and increased profitability

merged with Richmond Savings Credit Union, located in

through its merger with SMS. The income statement

Richmond, British Columbia, on December 31, 2000.

includes SMS’s operations since the merger closing on

On March 2, 2002, CCS entered into a letter of intent to

June 27, 2002. As such, year-over-year income statement

Cash resources

merge with Surrey Metro Savings Credit Union (SMS).

dollar comparisons are not included in this year’s MD&A.

Loans:

This letter resulted in a successful business combination

A general discussion of the income statement follows,

Residential

on June 27, 2002 whereby CCS acquired all the assets

as well as a description of income statement items on an

Commercial

and assumed all of the liabilities of SMS. The business

average asset basis for the benefit of the reader.

of subordinated notes of $50.0 million and an increase
in borrowings of $58.6 million. The holders of SMS
non-voting shares received $21 per share and the
shares held by SMS members were exchanged for
shares of CCS.
The founding credit unions were well-established financial institutions with 50-year histories and were highly
profitable operating entities prior to merging. They have
successfully competed with banks and other financial
institutions by providing a high level of customer service

1999

2000

2001

2002

9.61

8.59

7.43

11.94

14.38

0.00
0.45

combination was funded by way of a private placement

1998

0.58

0.55

2002

Year-over-year changes in the balance sheet have been

Average
Balance

Mix %

Interest

513,847

11

17,358

2,784,384

59

859,025

18

Personal

287,848

Lines of credit

269,298

Interest
Rate (%)

2001
Average
Balance

Interest
Rate (%)

Mix %

Interest

3.38

423,477

13

20,081

155,064

5.57

1,830,560

57

129,457

7.07

55,306

6.44

560,149

17

40,780

7.28

6

17,151

5.96

215,625

7

14,493

6.72

6

16,838

6.25

176,420

6

9,818

5.57

4.74

included below; however, the reader should be aware

Total loans

4,200,555

89

244,359

5.82

2,782,754

87

194,548

6.99

that these changes are substantially due to the merger

Total

4,714,402

100

261,717

5.55

3,206,231

100

214,629

6.69

1.04

undertaken with SMS.
Deposits:
Net income for 2002 was $26.3 million; before merger-

Demand

1,072,479

23

5,076

0.47

720,068

25

7,506

related transition expenses, it was $29.3 million. As

Term

2,188,895

48

76,560

3.50

1,486,041

49

71,327

4.80

a result, return on average assets was 0.55% in 2002,

RRSP

1,146,216

25

47,388

4.13

795,596

26

39,394

4.95

Total deposits

4,407,590

96

129,024

2.93

3,001,705

100

118,227

3.94

128,480

3

4,479

3.49

8,925

0

465

5.21

25,641

1

1,466

5.72

—

—

—

—

167

0

6

3.59

250

0

12

4.80

4,561,878

100

134,975

2.96

3,010,880

100

118,704

3.94

—

—

126,742

2.59

—

—

95,925

2.75

0.61% before merger-related transition expenses,
as compared to 0.58% in 2001, or 0.68% before merger-

Borrowings

related expenses.

Subordinated notes

and product quality. The Boards of Directors of all three

Assets grew in 2002 by 80.5%, compared with 6.1% for

credit unions believed that in order to continue to

2001. Total assets at year-end were $6.1 billion, up from

compete successfully, a merger would be necessary in

$3.4 billion in 2001. Total loans were $5.3 billion, up

Total

order to provide the economies of scale required to

81.8% from $2.9 billion in 2001. Total deposits were $5.6

Net interest income

achieve the operating efficiencies that would allow for

billion, an increase of 83.5% from $3.1 billion in 2001.

Other

greater competitive resilience in the future.
CCS’s ability to compete successfully with other financial
institutions will enable CCS to provide its members
with unrivalled customer experience in the years to come
and continue to allow it to achieve asset growth in the
future without deviating from its conservative strategy of
funding residential first-mortgage loans primarily with
retail deposits.

Net Interest Income
Other Income

Interest income is the major source of revenue for CCS.
In 2002, CCS earned interest income of $261.7 million
from borrowers on their loans and from cash resources.
Interest expense, which represents amounts paid by CCS

Other income is all income that is not interest related.

Other income in 2002 was $57.8 million. Other income

This includes items such as charges for banking services,

as a percentage of average assets was 1.20% in 2002, as

insurance and mutual fund commissions, securitization

compared to 1.43% in 2001.

revenues, and foreign exchange income. CCS encourages

on member deposits and corporate borrowings, totalled
$135.0 million. Net interest income represents the
difference between interest income and interest expense.
Net interest income for 2002 was $126.7 million. Net
interest income as a percentage of average assets was

a “user-pay” philosophy as much as possible, especially

Non-interest Expenses

in relation to its deposit accounts and financial services,

Non-interest expenses represent all costs that are not

and reviews service charges annually to ensure adequate

interest related, excluding provisions for credit losses and

returns while maintaining market competitiveness.

income taxes. It includes staff salaries and benefits,
occupancy, data processing, marketing, deposit insurance

2.59% for 2002, as compared to 2.75% in 2001.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Non-interest Expenses as a % of Average Assets
(%)
1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

3.37

3.33

3.45

3.44

3.06

3.75
3.00

assessments, Credit Union Central of British Columbia

Merger-related costs, as a result of completing the merg-

2.25

(CUCBC) dues, and provincial capital taxes, among

er with SMS on June 27, 2002, amounted to $3.5 million

1.50

other items. Total non-interest expenses in 2002 were

and have been capitalized onto the cost of acquiring

0.75

$147.0 million. Non-interest expenses as a percentage

SMS. Transition-related expenses, subsequent to the

0.00

of average assets was 3.06% in 2002, as compared to

merger, amounted to an additional $3.4 million in 2002.

3.44% in 2001.
Staffing costs, including incentive compensation, were
$78.6 million in 2002. The incentive program is reviewed
by the Board of Directors on a regular basis and can be
revised to reflect prevailing economic conditions.

Capital Expenditures/Premises and Equipment
In 2002, CCS undertook capital expenditures as a result
of facility renovations and capital replacements and
enhancements as follows:

Year ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars)

2002

Building renovations and improvements

$

529

Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment/software
Furniture and equipment

2001

$

108

622

27

5,638

5,422

994

1,254

(ALCO) comprised of the Chief Executive Officer, the

interest rate risk on a monthly basis. The modeling

Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and

determines the effect that rising or falling interest rates

other senior managers meets regularly to review and

would have on pretax income and market value over the

monitor asset and liability-related activities and initiates

next 12 months. If the interest rate risk is approaching

changes where necessary.

a level above policy guidelines, the largest differentials

The differentials shown in the table below for different
maturities can change from one year to the next and

Total

$

7,783

$

6,811

expectations held by the mortgage, loan, and deposit
members of CCS. As previously noted, this information is
monitored by management on a regular basis to ensure

Risk Management
Coast Capital Savings has adopted a strategic, risk-based

categories of risk: reputation, transition, regulatory

approach to managing the risks it faces in today’s com-

(includes compliance with new laws against money

plex legal and financial world. We recognize the need to

laundering and terrorist-financing activities, as well as

adopt an enterprise-wide approach to risk management

new laws on privacy and freedom of information),

that focuses the expertise of the resources within our

business continuity, alternative delivery channel, and

organization towards risk management best practices.

operational compliance risks. The Plan is approved

Risk management has been an ongoing and continuous
process at CCS, with the goal of achieving consistent
optimal earnings over the long term. The Board of
Directors reviews all of CCS’s risk management practices,
including investment and loan policies, annually, and
the Superintendent of Financial Institutions of British
Columbia reviews any changes for prudence. The Board
of Directors also reviews monthly reports on liquidity,

as deposit campaigns and mortgage securitizations,
or through so-called synthetic means by employing

to some extent are dependent on the interest rate

(Does not include asset disposals)

are reduced through either conventional means, such

derivative instruments such as interest rate swaps. As
at year-end, CCS held $345.3 million in derivatives for
interest rate risk management purposes.

early identification of any trends that are developing,

The following table shows the matching of maturities

or any differentials that require modification. Through

of the assets and liabilities of CCS at December 31, 2002,

computer modeling techniques, CCS determines its

as well as those at December 31, 2001:

Asset and Liability Maturities
2002
As at December 31
(in thousands of dollars)

by the Finance & Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors on an annual basis.

Variable rate

Interest Rate Risk

Interest sensitive

Interest rate risk represents the effect that changes

Maturing within 1 year

in interest rates can have on CCS’s financial position.

2001

Assets

Liabilities/
Equity

Differential

Assets

Liabilities/
Equity

1,469,259

1,408,742

60,517

830,739

861,196

(30,457)

1,285,784

2,590,013

(1,304,229)

969,737

1,433,683

(463,946)

Differential

Maturing between

Interest rate risk arises when there is a difference in
the amount of assets and liabilities that mature within
a similar period.

1 – 2 years

784,171

836,362

(52,191)

413,859

333,860

79,999

2 – 3 years

1,081,960

275,601

806,359

415,258

244,617

170,641

3 – 4 years

584,785

237,639

347,146

244,043

168,587

75,456

impaired loans, regulatory capital, operational risk

While the high proportion of residential first mortgages

4 – 5 years

690,528

428,807

261,721

396,309

80,278

316,031

factors, and financial performance. The four principal

provides a stable asset base, like any other financial

Non-interest bearing items

165,885

285,208

(119,323)

87,790

235,514

(147,724)

areas of risk that CCS monitors and manages are opera-

institution, CCS’s annual profitability depends to a consid-

6,062,372

6,062,372

3,357,735

3,357,735

tional risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity/

erable extent on its ability to manage the maturities and

investment risk.

yields of its assets against the maturities and costs of

interest rate risk, credit loss provisions, delinquent and

Operational Risk

(1)

its liabilities.

(1)

—

—

Assets include cash, accrued interest receivable, premises and equipment and other items.
Liabilities include accrued interest payable and other items.

CCS has a team of professionals who assess and develop

CCS closely manages its interest rate risk through various

Normally, rapidly falling interest rates would have a

assets. However, at the present time falling interest rates

strategies designed to mitigate key operational risks.

strategies designed to optimize the return to CCS of

neutral to positive impact on CCS’s net interest income

would actually have a negative impact on CCS’s net

The resulting strategies form the basis of the Annual Risk

differences between deposit and loan rates for different

over a 12-month period. This is because a greater portion

interest income, as a large portion of CCS’s assets are still

Management Plan (Plan). The Plan includes the following

maturities. An asset and liability management committee

of CCS’s liabilities will reprice over this period than its

able to reprice lower while many of its liabilities can no

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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longer go any lower, with interest rates being at 40-year

CUCBC, the remaining 2.0% can either be held inside or

At December 31, 2002, CCS had a personal loan portfolio

20.4% at December 31, 2001. Prior to the sale of commer-

lows. This “margin squeeze” will dissipate once rates rise

outside of CUCBC. CCS’s investment policy specifies the

of $0.6 billion representing 11.1% of total loans outstand-

cial mortgages, through securitization conduits, in the

back to more historically normal levels, and as such,

minimum rating, and certain single investment exposures

ing, compared with $0.4 billion and representing 13.7% of

amount of $0.1 billion, commercial loan growth would

CCS will return to more normal interest rate risk patterns.

for investments made outside of CUCBC. In general,

total loans as at December 31, 2001.

have been 93.9%.

The probability of a rapidly falling interest rate scenario

liquidity invested outside of CUCBC is invested in finan-

at this stage in the business cycle is considered to be low.

cial instruments that are rated R-1 low (A-) or higher.

Commercial lending consists primarily of first-mortgage

CCS maintains conservative lending policies and holds

loans to small- and medium-sized businesses for real

no foreign loans. CCS’s policy limits commercial lending

Most financial institutions tend to deem a prudent level

It is CCS’s intention to maintain a total liquidity portfolio

estate projects. The types of mortgages offered are simi-

to a maximum of 20.0% of its total assets and the

of asset/liability mismatching to be necessary in order to

in the range of 11.0% of total deposits and borrowings.

lar to residential mortgages, except the maximum term is

maximum loan exposure to any one borrower to an

improve profitability. The challenge is to find the level

It is management’s view that a total liquidity portfolio

limited to five years. Although CCS also conducts other

amount which is the lesser of $15.0 million or 10.0% of

of mismatch that will optimize net interest income while

having 1.0% in excess of that required by the FIA provides

forms of commercial lending, including small business

CCS’s aggregate share capital, retained earnings and

maintaining an acceptable level of risk.

a prudent margin of liquidity over the 10.0% statutory

lending and commercial leases, these constitute a small

subordinated notes. CCS has no loans outstanding which

requirement, without unduly impairing CCS’s return on

portion of the commercial loan portfolio.

exceed its internal limit. This limit is included in CCS’s

Credit Risk

assets. This level will provide CCS with an operating

CCS’s system for controlling the risk of borrowers default-

cushion in the event of rapid asset growth or sudden

ing on loan obligations is based upon strict adherence

deposit declines and still allow CCS to meet its regulatory

to clearly defined credit policies and credit approval

requirements. At December 31, 2002, CCS’s liquidity

procedures. Authority for loan approval to specified limits

was 10.9% of total deposits and borrowings.
As at December 31

Loans
Total loans as at December 31, 2002 were $5.3 billion,

upon the experience and qualifications of the individuals

compared with $2.9 billion at the previous year-end, an

involved. If a proposed loan is beyond the lending limit

increase of 81.8%, and substantially due to the merger

prescribed for branch management, it is forwarded to the

with SMS. Prior to the sale of loans in 2002, through

Manager, Retail Credit, or the Chief Credit Officer,

securitization conduits in the amount of $0.3 billion,

depending on the size of the loan. If a loan is beyond the

loan growth would have been 91.7%.

submitted to the loans committee (comprised of senior
lending managers) and either approved at this level
or sent further to the management credit committee
(comprised of the CEO and other executive officers) for
final approval.
New lending in each branch is reviewed annually to
ensure adherence to policy guidelines and general credit
quality. Loans requiring collection are removed from the
branch level and centralized for further follow up.
Liquidity/Investment Risk
As required by the Financial Institutions Act of British
Columbia (FIA), 10.0% of CCS’s total deposits and
borrowings must be held in a liquidity portfolio com-

of British Columbia.

outstanding, compared with $0.6 billion, representing

Loan Portfolio

Directors. Loan approval limits are established based

internal lending limit prescribed for the CEO, it is then

annually by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions

totalled $1.1 billion, representing 20.6% of total loans

is granted to officers by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO),
with the guidelines reviewed annually by the Board of

internal investment and lending policy, which is reviewed

At December 31, 2002, CCS’s commercial loan portfolio

2002

Number

Total(1)
in millions
of dollars

in
per cent

Average in
thousands
of dollars

2001

Number

Total(1)
in millions
of dollars

in
per cent

Average in
thousands
of dollars

Individuals
Mortgages:
Conventional

24,435

2,251

42.4

92

15,896

1,361

46.7

86

Revenue

557

66

1.2

118

—

—

—

—

CCS aggressively competes for, and is a major holder of,

Progressive

117

17

0.3

145

—

—

—

—

residential first mortgages in the Lower Mainland and the

Insured

6,390

906

17.1

142

3,023

418

14.3

138

Victoria area on Vancouver Island. It grants mortgages to

High-ratio

1,129

188

3.5

166

180

32

1.1

180

individuals according to conventional mortgage-lending

PLC(2) (mortgage secured)

4,270

197

3.7

46

2,566

109

3.7

43

standards for residential properties. CCS offers closed

Subtotal mortgages

36,898

3,625

68.3

98

21,665

1,920

65.9

89

fixed-rate mortgages, open variable-rate and fixed-rate
Other:

mortgages, written with terms of six months to 10 years.

920

11

0.2

12

—

—

—

—

At December 31, 2002, CCS’s portfolio of residential

Retail leasing
PLC(2) (other)

84,702

256

4.8

3

59,612

207

7.1

3

mortgage loans totalled $3.6 billion, representing 68.3%

Personal loans

31,275

324

6.1

10

21,448

193

6.6

9

Subtotal other

116,897

591

11.1

5

81,060

400

13.7

5

of residential mortgages in 2002, through securitization

Subtotal individuals

153,795

4,216

79.4

27

102,725

2,320

79.6

23

conduits, in the amount of $0.2 billion, residential

Commercial

mortgage growth would have been 99.2%.

Commercial loans

5,702

1,045

19.7

183

4,209

596

20.4

142

Commercial leasing

1,124

46

0.9

41

—

—

0.0

—

6,826

1,091

20.6

160

4,209

596

20.4

142

& commercial

160,621

5,307

100

33

106,934

2,916

100

27

Accrued interest

—

15

—

—

—

10

—

—

160,621

5,322

100

33

106,934

2,926

100

27

of total loans outstanding, compared with 65.9% of the
total loans as at December 31, 2001. Prior to the sale

prised of investments with maturities, usually ranging

Personal loans to members include instalment loans,

from overnight to five years. As part of this regulation,

demand loans, retail leases and lines of credit. CCS also

Subtotal other

CCS is required to hold statutory liquidity with CUCBC

offers a menu of credit cards. Under the arrangement,

Subtotal individuals

equalling 1.5% of the B.C. credit union system’s assets,

CCS does not carry the receivables owing from its credit

which presently amounts to approximately 8.0% of

card holders but earns a fee based on the total net

CCS’s deposits and borrowings. These deposits provide

purchases generated by its credit card holders, as well

yields similar to those of Government of Canada T-bills

as a per-card fee.

Total loan portfolio

or bonds. In addition to the liquidity portfolio held at

(1) Before allowance for credit losses
(2) Personal Line of Credit

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Total Loans
(in thousands of dollars)
1998

1999

Total Deposits
(in thousands of dollars)
2000

2001

2002

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

5,000,000

5,000,000

4,000,000

4,000,000

3,000,000

3,000,000

At December 31, 2002, total demand deposits repre-

Capital

2,000,000

2,000,000

sented 21.9% of total deposits, compared with 25.8%

CCS’s capital requirements are regulated by the Financial

1,000,000

1,000,000

in the previous year. The decline in demand deposits

Institutions Commission (FICOM), using the risk-weighted

0

0

as a percentage of total deposits was due to the merger;

approach developed by the Bank for International

SMS had considerably fewer demand deposits in its

Settlements (BIS). FICOM established a minimum capital

portfolio. However, demand deposit balances did grow

standard based on a ratio of capital-to-risk-weighted

as members opted not to immediately renew maturing

assets of 8%. At least 50% of a credit union’s capital base,

term deposits, preferring to wait until interest rates

for the purpose of meeting the standard, must consist

rise to more historically normal levels. Term deposits

of primary capital, known as Tier 1, comprised of share

represented 52.1%, compared with 47.4% in 2001,

capital and retained earnings, less intangible assets, and

and term registered savings plans represented 26.0%,

future income taxes. Secondary capital, known as Tier 2,

compared with 26.8% in 2001. Term deposits are the

includes subordinated notes and 50% of a credit union’s

most suitable for matching CCS’s mortgage lending.

portion of retained earnings in the Credit Union Deposit

2,610,229

2,647,017

2,648,310

2,917,871

5,305,265

2,876,360

2,970,773

2,962,817

3,054,937

5,606,339

Allowance for Credit Losses
CCS has an established policy of providing an allowance

$3.5 million in 2001. CCS’s total allowance for credit

to cover potential credit losses. It is reviewed on an

losses increased to $16.9 million or 0.32% of total loans.

ongoing basis and if potential credit losses are identified,

As at December 31, 2001, the total allowance for credit

a specific allowance is established. In 2002, provisions

losses represented 0.26% of total loans.

Insurance Corporation (CUDIC), CUCBC, and Stabilization

for credit losses were $3.9 million, as compared to
Asset Quality Coverage
Year ended December 31
in thousands of dollars

Wealth Management

Central Credit Union (Stab Central). A credit union’s

Investing and financial planning continues to be a com-

assets are weighted according to six categories of relative

plex area. With the recent uncertainty in equity markets,

risk ranging from 0% to 200%. Residential mortgages,

it has become imperative that CCS provide sophisticated

which form the majority of the assets of CCS, are risk-

advice that will provide an even greater resource for its

weighted at 50%.

members to grow and prosper in the years ahead.
2002

Total loans

$

Provision for credit losses (PCL)

5,305,265

2001

$

2,917,871

3,872

Loan write-offs, net of recoveries

3,504

3,455

2,540

Total allowances

16,884

7,641

Impaired loans

14,701

13,458

Members’ equity

201,032

8.27%. With the elimination of SMS’s retained earnings,

These funds provide our members with another invest-

as a result of the merger, arrangements were made to

ment option and provide CCS with an alternative

enhance CCS’s capital by way of an issue of $50.0 million

source of fee income.

in subordinated notes. CCS is committed to further
strengthening its capital position, targeting a minimum

Other Operations

167,192

On April 1, 2002, Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd.
in per cent

2002

2001

PCL as % of total loans

0.07

0.12

Loan write-offs as % of total loans

0.07

0.09

Impaired as % of total loans

0.28

0.46

Impaired as % of members’ equity
Total allowances as % of impaired loans
Total allowances as % of total loans

7.31

8.05

114.85

56.78

0.32

0.26

(CCIS) acquired 80% of the outstanding shares of Coast
Capital General Insurance Services Ltd (CCGIS), and on
October 1, 2002, CCIS acquired 100% of the outstanding
shares of Wagner Newell & Associates Inc.
Coast Capital Savings has a number of subsidiaries that
provide complementary financial services. Because of
these operations, members are able to purchase various
forms of insurance, invest in mutual funds and/or the
equity markets. Also acting as real estate and mortgage

Deposits
Total deposits as at December 31, 2002 were $5.6 billion,

CCS offers a full range of personal deposit services and

compared with $3.1 billion for the previous year, an

products, including chequing accounts, savings accounts,

increase of 83.5%. Agency and institutional deposits

and term deposits. All deposit accounts are in Canadian

accounted for $1.2 billion or 20.8% of total deposits in

funds, with the exception of a special US dollar invest-

2002, as compared to $0.5 billion or 14.9% in 2001. Retail

ment chequing account, and US dollar short-term

deposit growth remained challenging throughout the

deposits. CCS also provides special benefit packages on

year, although considerably less than in previous years.

some of its accounts for individuals aged 59 and over

Money continues to flow out of poorly performing equity

or 18 and under. CCS is also active in the registered

markets and into safer haven investment vehicles,

retirement savings plan (RRSP) market, offering term

which include deposits with financial institutions.

and variable RRSPs and registered retirement income

brokers, and deposit agents, some subsidiaries not
only help members within our trading area, but provide
services to members beyond CCS’s traditional reach.
Borrowings
CCS maintains a loan facility in the amount of
$354.0 million with CUCBC. Outstanding amounts under
this facility fluctuated in the normal course of business
during the year. As at year-end, the total borrowings
outstanding were $131.0 million.

funds (RRIFs).

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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of 9.0% in its 2003 capital plan.
The tables on page 24 show the levels of CCS’s capital
and its risk-weighted assets under the BIS requirements:

Tier 1 and 2 Capital

Outlook

Integration

As at December 31 (in thousands of dollars)

Loans and Deposits

The major focus over 2003 will be the continued

Real estate activity in CCS’s market area is being forecast

integration. There are many different facets around this

by local Real Estate Boards to continue close to the brisk

activity, with the ultimate goal of not just selecting

pace set in 2002. As such, management expects that

the best practice from the three previous organizations,

mortgage and commercial lending, as well as leasing

but where possible to originate a different, even better

activity, will be similar to that experienced in 2002.

model for CCS going forward.

North American stock markets will continue to have a

CCS has already begun to roll out its new Customer

positive impact on CCS’s deposit-gathering activities as

Relationship Management (CRM) platform, called the

2002

2001

Tier 1 Capital
Share capital(1)

$

Membership Class A shares
Retained earnings
Future income taxes

25,062

$

1,456

909

150,485

126,674

(5,189)
$

Less: Goodwill and other intangible assets
Off balance sheet securitized mortgages
$

15,586

(3,216)

171,814

$

139,953

(9,706)

(5,566)

investors become increasingly disenchanted by mutual

Coast Experience, and plans to complete the conversion

(7,075)

(4,220)

fund returns. While low interest rates might at first

of its banking system in early 2004.

155,032

$

130,167

discourage customers from switching into deposit investments, lower returns with greater certainty may begin

Tier 2 Capital
Subordinated notes(2)

$

45,300

$

to appear more desirable.

—

Portion of equity in CUCBC, CUDIC, and Stabilization Central(3)

34,994

19,124

Throughout the continuing integration process, part of

Share capital(1)

25,284

25,430

which will include the consolidation of different products

105,578

44,554

and services, it will be an opportune time to explore
new innovative deposit products with the objective of

Total capital

$

260,610

$

174,721

With our commitment to improved operating efficiencies,
we believe that the integration activities in 2003 will
produce a solid foundation for superior financial results
in the years to come.
We are well positioned to create value for our
stakeholders.

attracting new customers and diversifying CCS’s overall
funding resources.

(1) Portion of share capital is deemed Tier 1 capital based on limited-redemption rights
(2) Net amount deemed as capital by FICOM
(3) Portion of System Retained Earnings x 50%

Income
Based on the current level of interest rates and the
expectation of increasing rates, CCS is anticipating net
interest income to improve slightly in 2003. While

Risk-Weighted Assets
As at December 31
(in thousands of dollars)

2002
Balance Sheet
Amount

2001
Balance Sheet
Amount

2002
Risk-Weighted
Balance

2001
Risk-Weighted
Balance

582,469

338,271

0

—

—

73,094

42,825

0 –100

48,174

22,903
737,530

BIS Risk
Weight (%)

we expect non-interest expenses to start to decline as a
result of improved efficiencies throughout the newly
merged CCS, transition costs will continue to weigh on

Cash resources
Commercial paper
Residential mortgages

2,596,970

1,475,059

50

1,298,485

Insured mortgages

886,036

446,012

0

—

—

High-ratio mortgages

185,367

32,482

100

185,367

32,482

Personal loans
Commercial loans and leasing
Revenue property
Other assets/investments
Off-balance sheet exposure

550,668

371,828

0 – 80

443,025

302,700

1,093,737

599,652

100

1,093,737

599,652

2,604

—

150

3,906

—

91,427

51,606

100

91,427

51,606

—

—

0 –100

Capital deductions
6,062,372

—

1,739
(9,631)

3,149,373

1,738,980

2002

2001

Tier 1 Capital to risk weighted assets

4.92

7.49

Tier 2 Capital to risk weighted assets

3.35

2.56

8.27

10.05

in percent

3,357,735

2,034
(16,782)

CCS’s net income in 2003.

Note regarding forward-looking financial statements:
This Annual Report contains forward looking statements about
the operations, objectives and expected financial performance of
Coast Capital Savings. These statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may differ depending on a number of
factors, including but not limited to legislative or regulatory
changes, competition, technological changes, interest rates and
general economic conditions in British Columbia and Canada.
These issues should be given careful consideration and readers
should not place undue reliance on Coast Capital Savings’
forward-looking statements.

Ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets:

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Management’s Responsibility & Auditors’ Report to Members

Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at December 31, 2002

Management’s Responsibility

Auditors’ Report to Members

The consolidated financial statements and all other

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Coast

All tabulated in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

information contained in the Annual Report are the

Capital Savings Credit Union as at December 31, 2002,

Assets:

responsibility of management and have been approved

and the consolidated statements of income and retained

Cash resources

by the Board of Directors. The consolidated financial

earnings and cash flows for the year then ended. These

Loans

statements have been prepared by management in

consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of

accordance with the requirements of the Credit Union

Coast Capital Savings Credit Union’s management. Our

Incorporation Act and appropriate generally accepted

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consoli-

Other

accounting principles in Canada and include amounts

dated financial statements based on our audit.

based on informed judgments and estimates of the
expected effects of current events and transactions.
Financial information presented elsewhere in this
Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

8

409,110

147,738

9

43,927

24,542

10

48,082

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements

60,406

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

Borrowings

13

131,000

75,200

5,811,340

3,190,543

Share capital
Retained earnings

Subordinated notes

$

15

$

$

position of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union as at
December 31, 2002, and the results of its operations and

Commitments and contingent liabilities

19

its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

As required by the British Columbia Financial Institutions
Act, we report that, in our opinion these principles have
been applied, except as described in Note 2, on a basis
consistent with the preceding year.
On behalf of the Board:

KPMG LLP has been appointed by the membership
as independent auditors to examine and report on the
Chartered Accountants

appears at right. They have full and free access to the

Vancouver, BC

internal audit staff and the Audit Committee of the Board.

February 14, 2003, except as to Note 19,

Bill Wellburn

Tom Kirstein

Director

Director

which is as February 17, 2003.

Chief Executive Officer

Management’s Responsibility & Auditors’ Report to Members

$

50,346

$

26
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6,062,372

—

41,016
126,176

201,032

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

consolidated financial statements and their report

50,000

150,686

to the Board of Directors for final approval.

Hermann Bessert

14

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements

tors the annual financial statements prior to submission

Chief Financial Officer

3,054,937

74,001

statement presentation.

President &

$

12

and personal accountability, and careful selection and

Lloyd Craig

5,606,339

11

Other

Members’ equity:

of five Directors, to review with management and audi-

$

Deposits

ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial

Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, comprised

3,357,735

require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain

ples used and significant estimates made by manage-

against unauthorized use or disposition. The Board of

$

Liabilities:

segregation of responsibilities, delegation of authority

accountability for assets, and that assets are safeguarded

6,062,372

generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards

include an organizational structure providing for effective

for preparing financial statements and maintaining

28,461

$

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian

An audit also includes assessing the accounting princi-

reasonable assurance that financial records are reliable

239,123

Premises and equipment

accounting, operating and system controls. Controls

internal audits. These controls are designed to provide

$

Investments

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

and records, as well as a continued program of extensive

255,988

2,917,871

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the

ensure adequate internal control over transactions, assets

$

5,305,265

data, management relies on comprehensive internal

administrative policies and procedures necessary to

4

2001
Restated

2002

5, 6, 7

In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of financial

training of personnel; the application of accounting and

Notes

167,192
$

3,357,735

Consolidated Statement of Income

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2002

Year ended December 31, 2002

All tabulated in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

Notes

2001
Restated

2002

All tabulated in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities:

Interest income:
Loans

$

Cash resources and investments

244,359

$

Net income

194,548

17,358

20,081

261,717

214,629

$

Amortization of premises, equipment and goodwill

Borrowings

129,024

118,227

5,951

477

Other income

6

16

Provision for credit losses

118,704

126,742

95,925

3,872

3,504

122,870

92,421

Cash flows used in investing activities:

57,795

46,736

Acquisition of SMS less cash resources

1,363

Cash flows from operating activities

Salaries and employee benefits

3

Acquisition of subsidiaries

139,157

3,504
—

(13,354)

Changes in non-cash operating items

Net increase in loans

Non-interest expenses:

(962)

3,872

Write-down for impairment of property held

134,975

180,665

18,811
8,409

(2,238)

Changes in accrued interest receivable and payable

Net interest income

$

8,717

Future income taxes

Deposits

26,322

Adjustments for:

Interest expense:

Provision for credit losses

2001
Restated

2002

(325)

12,125

2,051

36,807

31,488

(87,843)

—

(2,067)

—

(350,275)

(113,302)

Net increase in investments

23,953

14,757

Net purchase of premises and equipment

(7,422)

(7,002)

(423,654)

(105,547)

78,559

59,149

34,454

28,077

Technology

17,502

12,302

Occupancy

16,490

12,514

147,005

112,042

82,125

(155,053)

33,660

27,115

Increase in borrowings, net

13

5,800

75,457

3,381

4,070

Issue of subordinated notes

14

50,000

Administration

17

Income from operations
Transition costs

Cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from mortgage securitizations

Net redemption of Class A membership shares
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

30,279
18

Net income

3,957
$

26,322

Net redemption of Class B shares

23,045

$

15

(12,650)

288,521

Payment of dividends

112,438

(5,391)

Cash flows from financing activities

18,811

(55)

(451)

Net increase in deposits

4,234

—

(28)

Net increase (decrease) in cash resources
Cash and short-term investments, beginning of year

(4,041)

420,576

16,096

33,729

(57,963)

108,597

166,560

Consolidated Statement of Retained Earnings
Year ended December 31, 2002

Cash and short term investments, end of year

Notes

Retained earnings, beginning of year, as previously reported

2002

$

Mortgage prepayment penalty fees and loan fees (Note 2)
Retained earnings, beginning of year, as restated
Net income
Dividends, net of income taxes
Retained earnings, end of year

15
$

129,251

$

2001
Restated

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

111,552

Interest paid during the year

3,075

2,558

126,176

108,994

26,322

18,811

1,812

1,629

150,686

$

Income taxes paid during the year

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

126,176

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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$

142,326

$

108,597

$

(151,765)

$

(124,197)

(8,502)

(5,238)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2002. All tabulated in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (CCS) is incorporated

Loans

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

are recognized immediately, unless there is recourse

under the British Columbia Credit Union Incorporation

Loans are stated at the amount of unpaid principal plus

Write-offs are generally recorded after all reasonable

to CCS in excess of expected losses, in which case the

Act, and its subsidiaries are incorporated under the

accrued interest net of allowance for credit losses.

restructuring or collection activities have taken place and

gains on sales are considered unrealized and deferred

British Columbia Company Act. The operation of CCS is

Interest income is recorded on the accrual basis. Accrued

the possibility of further recovery is considered to be

until they are collected in cash and there is no recourse

regulated under the British Columbia Financial

but uncollected interest is reversed whenever loans are

remote.

to that cash.

Institutions Act. CCS serves members principally in the

determined to be impaired. CCS classifies a loan as

Lower Mainland, Fraser Valley, and the southern

impaired when, in the opinion of management, there is

Cash resources and investments

Premises and equipment

Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia.

reasonable doubt as to the ultimate collectibility, either in

Cash resources and short-term money market invest-

Land is carried at cost. Buildings, furniture and equip-

During the year, CCS acquired the assets and assumed

whole or in part, of principal or interest. Loans where

ments are valued at cost plus accrued interest. Long-term

ment, and leasehold improvements are carried at cost,

the liabilities of Surrey Metro Savings Credit Union

interest or principal is contractually past due 90 days are

investments, where the intent is to hold for the long term,

less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated

(SMS). SMS was incorporated under the British Columbia

automatically placed on an impaired basis, unless man-

are considered investment securities and carried at cost

using the straight-line method over the estimated useful

Credit Union Incorporation Act and provided financial

agement determines there is no reasonable doubt as to

plus accrued interest.

lives of the related assets as follows:

services to members principally in the Fraser Valley

the ultimate collectibility of principal and interest. All

Transfer of mortgage receivables

Buildings................................................ 40 to 50 years

region of British Columbia. The results of SMS’s opera-

loans are classified as impaired when interest or principal

CCS adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered

Leasehold improvements .................... Lease term plus

tions have been included in the consolidated financial

is past due 180 days. When a loan is classified as

Accountants’ (CICA) accounting guideline for transfers of

statements, effective June 27, 2002. (Note 3)

impaired, interest income is recognized on a cash basis

receivables effective July 1, 2001.

only after any specific provisions or partial write-offs
1. Significant accounting policies

have been recovered and provided there is no further

Basis of presentation

doubt as to the collectibility of principal.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

Goodwill

transferred mortgages has been received in exchange.

Goodwill represents the excess of the price paid over the

and renegotiation fees, are considered to be adjustments

If these criteria are not satisfied, then the transfers are

fair value of the net assets as a result of an acquisition

to loan yield and are deferred and amortized to loan

treated as financing transactions. If treated as sales, the

accounted for using the purchase method. Goodwill is

interest income over the term of the loans.

mortgages are removed from the consolidated balance

recorded in other assets. Effective January 1, 2002, good-

sheet, and a gain or loss is recognized in other income

will is reviewed annually for impairment; any impairment

immediately based on the carrying value of the loans

will be recognized as a charge to income in the period in

transferred, allocated between the assets sold and the

which the impairment is determined.

CCS maintains an allowance for credit losses, which,

and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

in management’s opinion, is considered adequate to

during the reporting period. Actual results may differ

provide for credit-related losses in its loan portfolio. The

from these estimates.

allowance is increased for loan impairment by a charge

CCS, its active subsidiaries Coast Capital Insurance
Services Ltd. (CCIS), Coast Capital Investments (a partnership between CCS and CCIS), Coast Capital Real Estate
Ltd., U-Select Financial and Insurance Services Ltd.,
Metro Financial Ltd., Shoreline Projects Ltd., Rising Tide
Development Corporation, 615488 B.C. Ltd., and various
inactive subsidiaries. All inter-company transactions and

the date of transfer. The fair values of mortgages sold,
retained interests, and recourse liabilities are determined
using either quoted market prices or pricing models

A specific allowance is established on an individual

that take into account management’s best estimates of

loan basis to reduce the carrying values to the loan’s
estimated realizable amount. The estimated realizable
amounts are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at the effective interest rate inherent
in the loans. When the amounts and timing of future
cash flows cannot be reliably established, estimated
realizable amounts are determined by reference to

Inovera Solutions joint venture is accounted for using the

losses that management estimates have occurred at the

proportionate consolidation method, whereby CCS’s

balance sheet date for which specific allowances cannot

share of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses are

yet be determined. CCS applies a methodology that

included in the consolidated financial statements.

incorporates loan loss history as the basis for estimating
probability of default and loss for various credit portfolios
that exhibit similar loan loss characteristics.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Derivative-financial instruments are financial contracts
whose value is derived from interest rates, foreign
exchange rates, or other financial indices.
In the ordinary course of business, CCS enters into

and discount rates commensurate with either the risks

various derivative contracts, including interest rate

involved or sales of similar assets. Where CCS continues

forwards, swaps, and options. Derivative contracts are

to service the mortgages sold, a servicing liability is

either exchange-traded contracts or negotiated over-

recognized and amortized over the servicing period as

the-counter contracts. CCS enters into such contracts to

servicing fees.

manage its exposures to interest rate fluctuations as
part of CCS’s asset/liability management program.

or transfers arising from commitments made prior to that

Swaps, options, and forwards entered into for the

date, CCS treats the transfers as sales, provided that the

purpose of managing CCS’s interest rate exposures are

significant risks and rewards of ownership have been

accounted for on the accrual basis. The income or

transferred and there is reasonable assurance regarding

expense is recognized over the term of the agreement as

the measurement of the consideration received. The

an adjustment to interest income or expense. Accrued

sales proceeds are recorded based on fair value of the

interest receivable and deferred gains are recorded in

mortgages sold and issuance costs are deducted from

other assets and accrued interest payable and deferred

those proceeds in determining the gain or loss. Losses

losses are recorded in other liabilities.

are recognized in income immediately. Gains on sales

purchase method.

Derivative-financial instruments

key assumptions such as expected losses, prepayments,

For mortgage receivables transferred prior to July 1, 2001

market prices for the loans or their underlying security.
CCS maintains a general allowance to absorb credit

Business combinations are accounted for using the

retained interests in proportion to their fair values at

to income and reduced by write-offs net of recoveries.

balances have been eliminated. The investment in the

Business combinations

Computer software............................... 3 to 5 years

and consideration other than beneficial interests in the

contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date

financial position, operating results, and cash flows of

trol over the transferred mortgages has been surrendered

Furniture and other equipment ........... 5 to 10 years

Loan origination fees, including commitment, renewal

Allowance for credit losses

These consolidated financial statements include the

unrelated parties are treated as sales, provided that con-

equipment ............................................. 3 years

Loan fees

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

Principles of consolidation

Transfers of mortgages occurring after June 30, 2001 to

one renewal period
Computer and telephone

Coast Capital Savings 2002 Annual Report

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended December 31, 2002

3. Business combinations (continued)
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

In August 2001, the CICA issued new Handbook Section

Income taxes

3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. This section

CCS uses the asset-and-liability method of accounting

involves a new approach to accounting for goodwill

for income taxes. Future tax assets and liabilities are

and other intangible assets after an enterprise initially

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to

records these assets. The approach involves testing

differences between the financial statement carrying

for impairment at the reporting unit level rather than at

amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their

an acquisition-specific or enterprise-wide level. The

respective tax bases. Future tax assets and liabilities are

section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after

measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax

January 1, 2002. CCS has adopted the section for its

Liabilities assumed

rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in

fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2002, at which time

Deposits

which those temporary differences are expected to

it completed the transitional-impairment test and deter-

Borrowings

50,045

be recovered or settled. The effect on future tax assets

mined that goodwill and other intangible assets, not

Other liabilities

13,569

and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in

subject to amortization, were not impaired. The adoption

income in the period that includes the date of enactment

of this standard did not have a significant effect on the

or substantive enactment. A valuation allowance is

Assets acquired
Cash resources and investments

$

Loans

277,081
2,138,530

Premises and equipment

19,664

Other assets

20,407

Total assets

$

2,455,682

$

2,279,968

Total liabilities assumed

$

2,343,582

consolidated financial statements.

Fair value of net assets and consideration paid

$

112,100

3. Business combinations

4. Cash resources
$

50,379

established to reduce future income tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.
Future income tax assets or liabilities are included in
other assets or other liabilities, as applicable.
Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s financial statements.

shareholders of SMS voted in favour of a business

Cash

combination with CCS.

Short-term investments

non-voting shares of SMS for cash (Note 26). These

Statutory deposits with CUCBC

shares were immediately cancelled after acquisition.

Accrued interest

All membership shares of SMS were exchanged for

Effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after July 1,

membership shares in CCS. As part of the transaction,

2003, the CICA requires that an entity adopt accounting

CCS acquired all of the assets and liabilities of SMS.

guideline 13, Hedging Relationships and formally identify,

The business combination was accounted for using the

document, and designate hedges, including a determina-

purchase method. Pursuant to the acquisition, CCS

tion as to whether an instrument is effective as a hedging

terminated contractual relationships with Inventure

instrument of a specified asset or liability.

Solutions Inc. (Note 19)

As a result of the acquisition of Surrey Metro Savings
Credit Union (SMS) in 2002 (Note 3), CCS has changed its

$

44,366

2001

97,960

58,218

142,326

108,597

111,636

127,900

2,026

2,626

On June 27, 2002, CCS committed to acquire all

Future accounting changes

2. Changes in accounting policies

2002

On May 22, 2002, the members and non-voting

$

255,988

$

239,123

In accordance with provincial legislation and the terms of

credit union assets. Deposits with CUCBC earn interest at

arrangements with Credit Union Central of British

short-term market rates. The long-term portion of CCS’s

Columbia (CUCBC), credit unions are required to maintain

deposits with CUCBC is shown in Note 8 and classified as

deposits with CUCBC totaling the lesser of 10% of their

an investment.

deposit and debt liabilities or 1.5% of all British Columbia

The following table summarizes the consideration
5. Loans

given and the estimated fair values of SMS’s net assets
acquired:

Residential
mortgages

2002

method of accounting for mortgage prepayment penalty
fees, and commercial and retail loan origination fees,

Loan principal

whereby fees are deferred upon receipt and amortized

Accrued interest

over the term of the related loan. CCS has implemented

Total loans

the change on a retroactive basis by restating prior

Allowances for credit losses

year’s financial statements. The effect of this change is to
increase deferred fee income by $3.325 million, increase
future income taxes by $0.767 million, and reduce

Impaired loans

opening-year retained earnings by $2.558 million,

Less amounts where loss not expected

effective January 1, 2001; and to reduce previously
reported net income for the year ended December 31,

$

3,624,415

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Personal
loans

$

591,186

$

1,091,303

Total

$

5,306,904

8,852

1,598

4,795

15,245

3,633,267

592,784

1,096,098

5,322,149

7,567

1,602

7,715

16,884

$

3,625,700

$

591,182

$

1,088,383

$

5,305,265

$

6,930

$

712

$

7,059

$

14,701

6,229

113

5,996

12,338

Specific allowances

701

599

1,063

2,363

General allowances

6,866

1,003

6,652

14,521

2001 by $0.516 million.
Total allowances for credit losses

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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$

7,567

$

1,602

$

7,715

$

16,884

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended December 31, 2002

5. Loans (continued)

7. Transfer of mortgage receivables (continued)
Residential
mortgages

2001

Loan principal

$

1,919,975

Accrued interest
Total loans

Impaired loans

Personal
loans

$

399,697

$

595,981

Key assumptions used in measuring the retained

$

2,915,653

1,039

2,876

9,859

1,925,919

400,736

598,857

2,925,512

3,469

1,017

3,155

7,641

1,922,450

$

8,322

$

$

399,719

$

999

$

interests at the date of securitization were as follows:

Total

5,944

Allowances for credit losses
$

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

595,702

$

4,137

$

Prepayment

15.00%

7.00%

0.13%

0.50%

Residual cash flows discounted at

4.64%

3.81%

4.46

2.77

Principal amount
of loans >60
days past due

Average
balances

13,458

The following table summarizes quantitative

7,669

139

2,711

10,519

information about mortgages securitized by CCS as at

Specific allowances

653

860

1,426

2,939

General allowances

2,816

157

1,729

4,702

Less amounts where loss not expected

Total allowances for credit losses

$

3,469

$

1,017

$

3,155

$

Commercial
mortgages

Expected credit losses
Weighted average life (in years)

2,917,871

Residential
mortgages

December 31, 2002:
Total principal
of mortgages

Type of Loan

7,641

Residential
Substantially, all of CCS’s loans are written on properties

Commercial

and businesses located in the Lower Mainland, Fraser

Total loans

$

242,196

$

80,126
$

322,322

—

$

1,046
$

1,046

219,635
36,287

$

255,922

$

49,306

Valley, and the southern Vancouver Island regions of
British Columbia.

CCS has no obligation to repurchase the mortgages sold
through securitizations. CCS has an option to reacquire

6. Allowances for credit losses

securitized mortgages immediately prior to the maturity
2002

Balance, beginning of year

$

7,641

2001

$

dates. The securitized mortgages will mature as follows:

6,677

Allowances at date of acquisition of SMS (Note 3)

8,826

—

2003

Provision for credit losses

3,872

3,504

2004

41,741

20,339

10,181

2005

24,600

(4,044)

(2,758)

2006

Loans written off
Recoveries of loans written off
Balance, end of year
Percentage of total loans

589
$

16,884

$

0.32%

73,486

2007 and subsequent years

218

133,189
$

7,641
0.26%

2002

Conventional mortgages

$

Insured mortgages

7. Transfer of mortgage receivables
CCS, as part of its program of managing interest rate risk,

have no recourse to CCS’s other assets for failure of

liquidity, and capital, enters into arrangements to fund

debtors to pay when due. CCS’s retained interests are

mortgage growth by selling loans to unrelated special

subject to credit, prepayment, and interest rate risks

purpose entities (SPEs).

on the securitized mortgages.

CCS does not receive an explicit servicing fee for its

Gains recognized on the securitization of residential mort-

Loans under administration of $43,719,000 (2001 – $27,365,000)

servicing responsibilities. CCS’s retained interests consist

gages were $3,751,751 (2001 – Nil) and on commercial

held on behalf of third parties are not reflected in these statements.

of its rights to future cash flows arising after the investors

mortgages were $1,597,832 (2001 – Nil), net of the servic-

in the SPEs have received the return for which they

ing liability of $1,733,622 (2001 – Nil) recognized initially

contracted and credit enhancement provided to the SPEs

on securitization. Servicing liabilities amortized during

in the form of cash collateral accounts. The SPEs, as

the year amounted to $315,861 (2001 – Nil). Servicing

holders of the securitized mortgages, have recourse

liabilities amounted to $1,417,761 at December 31, 2002.

only to a cash collateral account and cash flow from the

Additionally, income of $1,801,152 was recognized during

net present value of future interest earnings on the

the year from pre-July 1, 2001 residential and commercial

securitized mortgages. The investors and the SPEs

mortgage securitizations (2001 – $3,480,215).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Recourse for holders of conventional securitized mortgages
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306,122

322,322
2001

$

16,200

167,359
57,961

$

322,322

$

225,320

$

7,075

$

4,220

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended December 31, 2002

8. Investments

11. Deposits (continued)
2002

Investments, CUCBC (Note 4)

$

368,593

2001

$

128,367

Membership Class A shares

Non-equity Class P shares

Class A shares are a membership requirement and are

Amounts contributed by members for Class P shares

redeemable on demand on cessation of membership and

can be withdrawn on demand or redeemed at any time

Shares, CUCBC

24,855

13,690

Accrued interest

6,771

2,917

accordingly are classified as deposits. These are voting

by CCS and accordingly are classified as deposits.

Other

8,891

2,764

shares with a par value of $1 each to a maximum of 1,000

These shares have a life insurance component such that

shares per member. CCS has an unlimited number of

the shareholder’s estate is paid double the value of

Class A shares authorized.

the share upon death of the shareholder. These shares

$

409,110

$

147,738

do not participate in any annual dividend.

Shares in CUCBC are a required investment as a condition
of membership in CUCBC and provincial legislation and
12. Other liabilities

are carried at cost. The amount of the share investment in

2002

2001

CUCBC is determined based on CCS’s membership and assets.
Accounts payable and accruals
9. Premises and equipment
Accumulated
amortization

Cost

Land

$

Deferred fee income

$

60,406

13. Borrowings

4,796

Maturity date

Furniture and equipment

42,169

21,612

20,557

15,044

January 2, 2003

3.30

Leasehold improvements

12,026

6,185

5,841

3,514

January 15, 2003

3.10

45,000

24,542

February 19, 2003

3.15

80,000

—

January 2, 2002

2.80

—

25,200

November 15, 2002

2.82

—

50,000

43,927

$

$

1,188

$

5,479

74,001

12,050

30,643

$

$

2001
Net book value

7,437

2,846

$

—

52,969

14,896

74,570

$

$

12,300

Buildings

$

5,479

2002
Net book value

61,701

$

Amortization in respect of the above buildings, furniture

Interest rate %

and equipment, and leasehold improvements amounted

2002

$

$

6,000

131,000

2001

$

—
—

$

75,200

to $8,717,000 (2001 – $7,780,000).
Credit facility
10. Other assets
2002

Accounts receivable

$

Prepaid expenses

11,932

2001

$

3,597

Borrowings are secured by a debenture in favour of

As at December 31, 2002, CCS has available lines

CUCBC, which creates a floating charge on assets and

of credit aggregating $354,011,000 at prevailing market

undertakings of CCS and an assignment of book debts.

rates (2001 – $182,500,000).

11,827

13,130

Future income taxes (Note 18)

6,723

5,128

14. Subordinated notes

Properties held for resale

5,699

5,263

The notes are unsecured and subordinated in right of

rate basis. CCS has an option to convert to fixed interest

Goodwill

3,955

1,223

payment to the claims of depositors and certain other

rates on 30 days written notice.

Other

7,946

120

$

48,082

$

creditors. The interest rates are calculated on a floating

28,461

Maturity date

5.72
5.72

2,500

—

787,008

December 31, 2005

5.72

2,500

—

1,416,769

December 31, 2006

5.72

5,000

Term

—

802,262

December 31, 2007

5.72

5,000

—

909

December 31, 2008

5.72

5,000

—

309

495

June 30, 2009

5.72

28,500

—

70,327

47,494

1,229,362

2001

$

2,875,971

Registered plans

1,428,914

Membership Class A shares

1,456

Non-equity Class P shares
Accrued interest
$

5,606,339

$

$

3,054,937

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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1,500

2001

December 31, 2004

2002

$

2002

December 31, 2003

11. Deposits
Demand

Interest rate %

50,000

$

$

—

—

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended December 31, 2002

15. Share capital

18. Provision for income taxes
2002

Authorized: Unlimited number of Class B shares with $1 par value.
Issued and outstanding Class B shares

2002

Beginning of year

$

Shares issued in exchange with former SMS members (Note 3)

41,016

$

Stock dividends

$

Future income taxes

6,195

$

(2,238)

5,196
(962)

38,777

9,781

Share redemptions

Current income taxes

2001

2001

$

—

(2,316)

(2,886)

1,865

5,125

3,957

$

4,234

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would
be computed by applying the federal and provincial statutory

End of year

$

50,346

$

41,016

income tax rates of 39.6% (2001 – 44.6%) to income
before income taxes. The reasons for the differences are

Class B shares are not a membership requirement

deposits. The preferred shares held by former SMS

and comprise an unlimited number of non-transferable,

members that exceeded the minimum required member-

non-cumulative, retractable, non-voting shares with

ship Class A holdings were exchanged for CCS Class B

a par value of $1 each. Redemption of Class B shares is

shares. CCS has authorized two other classes of equity

subject to the discretion of CCS. Terms and conditions,

shares and 44 other classes of preferred equity shares.

including dividends, are set at the discretion of the Board

Each class is authorized for an unlimited number of

of Directors. The dividend rate is a floating rate, 5.06%

shares with a par value of $1 with no shares issued and

Reduction applicable to credit unions

(2001 – 5.19%), and set at one percent in excess of CCS’s

outstanding.

Change in tax rate applied to future

as follows:

Amount

statutory income taxes

$

tax balances
Other
Effective income tax rate

16. Other income
Mutual fund commissions

$

Account service charges
Loan processing fees
General insurance commissions, net
Creditor and life insurance commissions

9,165

$

39.6

(6,752)

(22.7)

(850)

(2.9)

(237)

(0.7)

3,957

13.3

$

10,638

44.6

(6,143)

(25.8)

—

—

(261)
$

(1.1)

4,234

17.7

2002

2001

The components of the future income tax balances

8,322

are as follows:

10,015

1,984

1,417

12,353

8,078

Transition costs

4,712

Non-recurring items

2,079

944

Allowance for credit losses

3,763

848

3,480

Deferred revenue / prepaid expense

1,465

577

Other

(1,962)

881

911

7,467

Foreign exchange

1,882

2,187

Other

5,652

7,614

$

$

11,796

13,436

982

Securitization income (Note 7)

Amount

2001

4,874

Real estate commissions and service fees, net

2001
% of
pretax income

Combined federal and provincial

average posted five-year rate of interest on term

2002

2002
% of
pretax income

57,795

$

$

$

1,378

6,723

$

1,878

$

5,128

$

6,129

46,736
19. Commitments and contingent liabilities
Lease commitments

17. Administration expenses
2002

Dues to CUCBC

$

1,859

$

1,584

extending to 2017. Aggregate basic annual lease payments
are as follows:

Chequing service charges

2,333

1,386

Marketing

4,657

3,180

Capital taxes

2,109

1,679

Write-down for impairment of property held

1,363

—

Deposit insurance assessment

1,133

591

Bonding and other insurance

1,426

768

Professional and other services

2,040

1,743

Stationery, telephone, and postage

5,032

3,650

Patronage dividends and community contributions

4,799

3,857

Sundry

7,703

9,639

$

34,454

CCS occupies premises under long-term leases

2001

$

2003
2004

5,321

2005

4,067

2006

2,884

2007

2,016

Subsequent years

4,033

28,077

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

38

39

Coast Capital Savings 2002 Annual Report

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended December 31, 2002

19. Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)

20. Interest rate sensitivity position

Credit instruments

Interest rate risk results from differences in the maturities

of the gap, the direction of interest rate movements,

CCS enters into various off-balance sheet commitments

will expire or terminate without being drawn upon, thus

or repricing dates of interest rate sensitive assets and

and/or the volatility of those interest rates. The maturity

such as letters of credit and loan commitments. These are

actual credit risk is expected to be less than the amounts

liabilities, both on and off the consolidated balance sheet.

or repricing profiles change daily in the ordinary

not reflected in the consolidated balance sheet. In the

set forth. Details of these are as follows:

The resultant mismatch or gap, to which it is commonly

course of business as members select different terms

referred, may produce favourable or unfavourable

of mortgages, member loans and deposits.

normal course of business, many of these arrangements

variances on interest margins depending on the direction
2002

Lines of credit unfunded

$

643,366

Letters of credit

2001

$

Fixed-rate terms

282,105

22,557

10,402
2002

Information technology service

Contingencies

Assets

The former SMS contracted with Inventure Solutions Inc.

CCS is involved in various claims arising in the normal

Cash and investments

(ISI) as its main information system provider. Pursuant

course of business. In management’s opinion, adequate

Loans

to the acquisition of SMS, CCS entered into the Inventure

provisions for losses have been recorded in respect

Other assets

Modification Agreement to the Surrey Metro Master

of claims issued prior to December 31, 2002; however, it

Agreement whereby CCS had the right to terminate its

is not possible at this time to determine the final outcome

relationship with ISI and provide its own information

of such claims. Subsequent to year-end, CCS was served

technology services. On October 31, 2002, CCS provided

with a potential class proceeding purporting to be on

notice to terminate this agreement. CCS expects to

behalf of members charged certain service fees. As

continue obtaining information technology services from

the outcome of this action is considered indeterminable

ISI for a period no later than July 29, 2004. Costs to

at this time, no provisions have been recorded in

exit from this contractual relationship have been recorded

connection with this matter.

Variable
rate

0–3
months

4–6
months

7–12
months

1– 3
years

3 years+

Non-interest
sensitive

Total

%

124,586

165,034

21,628

67,329

665,098

2.99

17,207

209,314

60,000

1,452,052

249,139

208,563

—

—

—

1,469,259

458,453

268,563

5.52%

4.25%

5.37%

1,307,685

601,504

61,232 5,606,339

2.88

711

—

—

—

—

—

73,290

74,001

0.01

—

131,000

—

—

—

—

—

131,000

3.14

1,308,396

732,504

458,730 1,398,779 1,111,963

666,446

134,522 5,811,340

—

Liability cost

0.57%

2.86%

2.80%

2.84%

4.76%

4.84%

—

—

2.85

Subordinated notes

50,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

50,000

5.72

1,358,396

732,504

458,730 1,398,779 1,111,963

666,446

0.76%

2.86%

2.80%

2.84%

4.76%

4.84%

50,346

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

150,686

Asset yield

434,182 1,701,097 1,253,685
—

—

—

558,768 1,866,131 1,275,313
5.30%

5.65%

5.96%

458,730 1,398,779 1,111,963

666,446

6,547 5,305,265
92,009

92,009

165,885 6,062,372
—

—

5.78
0.00
—
5.38

Liabilities
Deposits
Other liabilities
Borrowings

as part of the purchase of SMS. (Note 3)

134,522 5,861,340
—

—

—

2.88

—

50,346

—

150,686

150,686

—

201,032

—

—

—

Members’ equity
Share capital
Retained earnings

50,346
Balance sheet match

60,517

—

—

(274,051)

—

(190,167)

—

(840,011)

—

754,168

608,867

(119,323)

Prepayment estimates
Loans and mortgages

—

110,805

110,804

221,609

(255,165)

(188,053)

—

—

—

Deposits

—

(17,785)

(17,784)

(35,568)

44,479

26,658

—

—

—

60,517

(181,031)

(97,147)

(653,970)

543,482

447,472

—

—

Mismatch after
estimated
prepayments

(119,323)

Derivatives
Assets

—

213,259

15,000

54,447

62,568

—

—

345,274

3.40

Liabilities

—

163,080

33,784

81,251

67,159

—

—

345,274

4.40

—

50,179

(18,784)

(26,804)

(4,591)

—

—

—

—

(130,852)

(115,931)

(680,774)

—

—

Net mismatch
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538,891

447,472

(119,323)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended December 31, 2002

20. Interest rate sensitivity position (continued)

21. Derivative instruments
Fixed-rate terms

2001

Variable
rate

0–3
months

4–6
months

7–12
months

The table below provides an analysis of CCS’s
1– 3
years

Non-interest
3 years+
sensitive

Total

derivative portfolio and related credit exposure:

%

Notional
amount

2002
Current
replacement
cost

Credit
equivalent
amount

$ 240,000

$ 2,446

$ 3,646

Assets
Cash and investments
Loans
Other assets

Asset yield

39,972

178,063

57,500

33,367

37,500

7,796

790,767

200,593

168,683

331,531

791,617

632,556

—

—

—

—

—

—

830,739

378,656

226,183

364,898

829,117

640,352

4.92%

4.94%

6.13%

5.77%

6.52%

6.78%

32,663

386,861

2,124 2,917,871
53,003

53,003

87,790 3,357,735
—

—

3.51
6.12
0.00

Interest rate swaps

820,180

438,853

283,115

636,515

578,477

248,865

—

agreements

5.72

Other liabilities

—

—

—

—

—

Borrowings

—

25,200

—

50,000

820,180

464,053

283,115

0.55%

3.79%

4.28%

Liability cost

48,932 3,054,937

3.21

—

60,406

60,406

0.00

—

—

—

75,200

2.81

686,515

578,477

248,865

109,338 3,190,543

—

3.27%

4.95%

5.98%

—

—

3.13

Retained earnings

Balance sheet match

41,016

—

—

—

—

—

—

41,016

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

126,176

126,176

—

41,016

—

—

—

—

—

126,176

167,192

250,640

391,487

(30,457)

(85,397)

(56,932)

(321,617)

(147,724)

—

729

$ 330,000

$ 4,178

Riskweighted
balance

$ 5,828

$ 1,166

—

—

—

—

20,000

—

100

20

Securitization swaps

84,371

1,432

1,854

371

155,206

4,267

5,043

1,009

Equity swaps

20,903

34

138

28

18,822

1,490

1,584

317

$ 345,274

$ 3,912

$ 5,638

$ 1,128

$ 524,028

$ 9,935

$ 12,555

$ 2,512

Total derivatives

Members’ equity
Share capital

$

Credit
equivalent
amount

Forward rate

Liabilities
Deposits

2001
Current
Notional replacement
amount
cost

Riskweighted
balance

Notional amounts are the contract amounts used to

Equity swaps are transactions in which CCS manages its

calculate the cash flows to be exchanged. They are a

exposure to changes in the value of index-linked deposit

common measure of volume of outstanding transactions,

products. Two parties exchange cash flows on a specified

but do not represent credit or market risk exposure.

notional amount for a predetermined period based on the

Notional amounts are not exchanged.

increase or decrease in an underlying stock market index

Current credit exposure is limited to the amount of loss
that CCS would suffer if every counterparty to which CCS
was exposed were to default at once, which is represent-

—

ed by the current replacement cost of all outstanding

Prepayment estimates

versus a fixed interest rate. Notional amounts are not
exchanged.
22. Fair value of financial instruments
The table on page 44 represents the fair values of CCS’s

Loans and mortgages

—

42,725

42,725

85,450

(94,994)

(75,906)

—

—

—

contracts in a gain position.

Deposits

—

(8,273)

(8,273)

(16,547)

23,139

9,954

—

—

—

Credit equivalent amount is the current replacement

values of financial assets and liabilities with fixed interest

cost plus an amount for future credit exposure associated

rates have been determined using discounted cash flow

with the potential for future changes in interest rates.

techniques based on interest rates being offered for

The future credit exposure is calculated using a formula

similar types of assets and liabilities with similar terms

prescribed in the capital adequacy guideline of the

and risks as at the balance sheet date. The fair value of

Mismatch after
estimated
prepayments

(30,457)

(50,945)

(22,480)

(252,714)

178,785

325,535

(147,724)

—

—

Derivatives

financial instruments, including derivatives. The fair

Assets

—

277,057

65,000

—

151,971

30,000

—

524,028

3.63

Province of British Columbia’s Superintendent of

financial assets and liabilities with floating rates of inter-

Liabilities

—

286,105

20,000

26,598

151,325

40,000

—

524,028

3.74

Financial Institutions (the “Superintendent”).

est is assumed to be equal to book value, as the interest

(9,048)

45,000

(26,598)

646

(10,000)

—

—

—

Risk weighted balance represents the regulatory capital

(59,993)

22,520

(279,312)

179,431

—

—

required to support CCS’s derivative activities. The credit

—
Net mismatch

(30,457)

315,535

(147,724)

equivalent amounts are weighted according to the credit
worthiness of the counterparty using factors prescribed in
In managing interest rate risk, CCS relies primarily upon

Adjustments made include assumptions relating to

its contractual interest rate sensitivity position adjusted

early repayment of loans and customer preferences for

for certain assumptions regarding customer behaviour

demand, notice and redeemable deposits.

the capital adequacy guideline of the Superintendent.
Interest rate swaps are transactions in which two parties
exchange interest flows on a specified notional amount

preferences, which are based upon historical trends.

for a predetermined period based on agreed-upon fixed
and floating rates.
Securitization swaps are interest rate swaps with notional
principals that amortize as the outstanding principal of
the securitized mortgages decline.

rates on these instruments automatically reprice to
market rates. Fair values of other financial assets and
liabilities are assumed to approximate their carrying
values, principally due to their short term nature. Fair
values of derivative financial instruments have been
based on market price quotations. No fair values have
been determined for capital assets, or any other asset
or liability that is not a financial instrument.
The undernoted fair values, presented for information
only, reflect conditions that existed only at the respective
balance sheet dates and do not necessarily reflect future
value or the amounts CCS might receive or pay if it
were to dispose of any of its financial instruments prior
to their maturity.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Corporate Governance

Year ended December 31, 2002

Good corporate governance requires sound ethics, integrity, judgment and values throughout the organization.

22. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Book value

2002
Difference

Fair value

Book value

2001
Difference

Fair value

The Board of Directors and management demonstrate a commitment to continuing development of corporate
governance policies, practices and disclosures for the stewardship of the credit union. Integral to the way we do

Assets:
Cash resources
Loans

$

255,988

$

256,044

$

56

$

239,123

$

239,561

$

5,305,265

5,367,748

62,483

2,917,871

2,966,709

48,838

409,110

412,418

3,308

147,738

150,755

3,017

22,154

22,154

—

8,237

8,237

—

$ 5,992,517

$ 6,058,364

$

65,847

$ 3,312,969

$ 3,365,262

$

52,293

$ 5,606,339

$ 5,652,875

$

46,536

$ 3,054,937

$ 3,101,862

$

46,925

59,262

59,262

—

50,340

50,340

—

131,000

131,074

74

75,200

75,498

298

Subordinated notes

50,000

53,783

3,783

—

—

—

Hedging derivatives

—

463

463

—

$ 5,846,601

$ 5,897,457

50,856

$ 3,180,477

Investments
Other

business is a genuine commitment to responsible financial, social and environmental practices.

438

Liabilities:
Deposits
Other
Borrowings

$

(3,086)
$ 3,224,614

(3,086)
$

44,137

Excess of fair value
over book value

23. Related-party transactions
At December 31, 2002, outstanding loans to directors,
officers and employees totalled $90,510,000 (2001 –
$35,657,000) which included 719 mortgages totaling
$76,526,000 and 2,255 other loans totaling $13,984,000.

$

14,991

$

The fundamental operating principle of credit unions

1. The Board should explicitly assume responsibility for

is democratic ownership — every member has at least one

the stewardship of the corporation: The Board of

share and one, but no more than one, vote in the

Directors has a formal mandate with responsibility for the

decision-making process. All members are equal owners,

stewardship of the credit union, which it discharges

regardless of the size of their respective credit union

by approving policy and supervising management.

deposits. Every member, subject to requirements of legis-

The day-to-day management of the business and affairs

lation and the credit union Rules, has the right to seek

of the credit union are delegated by the Board to the

election to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors

CEO and other executive officers.

is elected by the membership of Coast Capital Savings.

8,156

are developed as part of the Board's annual strategic

25. Pension plan

comprised of competent members who understand their

planning process. Through an annual budgeting process,

CCS is a participating member of the B.C. Credit Union

roles and responsibilities and are prepared to proactively

the Board adopts the operating budget, capital budget

Employees’ Pension Plan, a contributory defined benefit

represent member and stakeholder interests. Through

and business plans for the coming year, and then

plan.

its good corporate governance practices, the Board of

monitors management's progress through a quarterly

Directors enhances the credit union’s ability to achieve

reporting and review process.

As at December 31, 2000 the plan actuary reported

success and value for its members, stakeholders and

During the year, directors, in their capacity as directors,

that the plan had an excess of plan assets over actuarial

the credit union itself.

received remuneration of $277,000 (2001 – $256,000).

liabilities for accrued pension benefits. The plan actuary

During the year, in the normal course of business, CCS
paid $105,000 for professional services to and received
$50,000 in rental income from a professional firm, of
which a partner is a director of CCS.
During the year, CCS paid $3,412,000 to ISI for services
rendered. CCS owns 30% of the outstanding shares of ISI.

Long-term goals and strategies for the credit union

Effective governance requires that the Board should be

The integrity of the credit union’s internal control and
management information system is monitored by the

further reported that no change needed to be made at

Coast Capital Savings supports the guidelines establish-

Board and its Committees. The Board delegates certain

that time to the current level of employer contributions

ed by the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) for effective

work to its seven standing committees: Executive,

to the plan.

corporate governance, and uses these guidelines as

Human Resources, Finance & Audit, Conduct Review,

a benchmark with respect to oversight and governance

Governance & Member Relations, Nominations &

Pension expense included in the consolidated statement

standards. The guidelines, and Coast Capital Savings’

Election, and Investment & Loan. Each committee is

of income and retained earnings was $868,988 (2001 –

practice with respect to each, follows.

comprised of at least three directors and the Chair serves

$820,949).

ex-officio on those committees to which he/she has
not otherwise been elected or appointed. Each committee

24. Acquisitions
On April 1, 2002, Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd.
(CCIS) acquired 80% of the outstanding shares of
Coast Capital General Insurance Services Ltd (CCGIS).
On October 1, 2002, CCIS acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Wagner Newell & Associates Inc. Both
business combinations have been accounted for using
the purchase method. The fair value of assets acquired

26. Purchase of SMS non-voting shares

has available to it as a resource the CEO and other such

Pursuant to the business combination agreement with

members of management as may from time to time

SMS, CCS is obligated to purchase all SMS non-voting

be determined to be appropriate. The Board determines

shares for $21 each. As at December 31, 2002,

the powers and responsibilities of each committee and

Computershare Investor Services Inc. held $24.3 million

reviews the authority and mandate of each committee

in trust for 1,158,770 non-tendered shares; $24.1 million

annually.

of these funds are placed with CCS. As of June 27, 2008,
any unclaimed funds become the property of CCS.

2. Majority of directors should be unrelated (“unrelated

was $2,192,496, and liabilities assumed was $3,114,628.

director” means a director who is independent from any

Total consideration of $2,067,123 was paid in cash, and

interest and any business or other relationship which

the excess purchase price of $2,989,255 was attributed

could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially

to goodwill.

interfere with the director’s ability to act with a view to

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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the best interests of the company — the application of

& Responsibilities; Director’s Roles; Legal Basics;

10. Develop position descriptions for the Board and

definition of “unrelated director” is the responsibility of

Financial Statements; Asset-Liability Management; and

the CEO; define limits to management’s responsibilities;

the Board): The members of Coast Capital Savings,

Monitoring Credit Union Performance. In the second year

and approve corporate objectives that the CEO is

on a one-member, one-vote basis, elect the 18-member

after election or appointment to the Board, directors must

responsible for meeting — assess the CEO against these

Board of Directors. The Board currently has only one

complete a Business Simulation program and workshop.

objectives: The Board of Directors, individual directors,

“insider director,” defined by the Board of Coast Capital

Optional training includes Leadership; Strategic Planning;

and the CEO each has an express written mandate.

Savings as any person who derives more than 5% of

Risk Management; Board Development and Evaluation;

The CEO’s limits of authority are clearly defined.

his/her commercial income from his/her relationship with

Management, Recruitment, Performance Planning and

Corporate objectives are established and adopted

Coast Capital Savings (not including income derived

Evaluation; Credit; Audit; Financial Management and

annually by the Board, and the CEO’s performance is

from his/her remuneration as a director).

Analysis II; and Making Meetings Work.

measured against these objectives.

3. Appointment of a committee composed exclusively

6. Consider the size of the Board, with a view to establish-

11. Implement structures and procedures to ensure

of outside directors, a majority of whom are unrelated

ing a Board size which facilitates effective decision-

the Board can function independently of management:

directors, responsible for proposing to the full Board new

making: As a result of a merger in June 2002 with Surrey

Coast Capital Savings has a Chair separate from

nominees to the Board and for assessing directors on

Metro Savings, the Board of Coast Capital Savings is

management, and the Board functions independently of

an ongoing basis: The Nominations & Election

presently comprised of 18 directors. In October 2002, the

management. The Chair’s role is to ensure that full and

Committee is responsible for overseeing the election of

members of Coast Capital Savings approved a special

effective reporting and communication is established

directors by the members of the credit union. The

resolution to reduce the size of the Board and, as a result,

between the CEO and the Board of Directors, and that all

Governance & Member Relations Committee ensures that

the Board of Directors will be comprised of 16 Directors

proper business for consideration of the Board of

an annual Board evaluation is undertaken and makes

at the conclusion of the April 22, 2003 Annual General

Directors is brought forward to its meetings. The Board

recommendations regarding Board effectiveness. The

Meeting, 14 in 2004 and 12 in 2005. The maximum length

meets in camera at each of its regularly scheduled

TSX definition of “outside director” is a director who is

for a director’s single term of office is three years.

meetings (presently a minimum of 10 times per year).

Capital Savings prohibit an employee of the credit union

7. Review compensation for directors to ensure it

12. The audit committee should be composed of only

from serving on the Board of Directors.

realistically reflects the responsibilities and risk involved

unrelated directors. All members of the audit committee

in being a director: The Governance & Member Relations

should be financially literate and at least one member

4. Implement a process for assessing effectiveness of

Committee is mandated to periodically review and

should have accounting or related financial expertise

the Board as a whole, the Committees of the Board, and

make recommendations with respect to the remuneration

(as determined by the Board): The Finance & Audit

the contribution of individual directors: The Governance

paid to directors. The members of Coast Capital Savings

Committee, comprised solely of unrelated directors, is

& Member Relations Committee ensures that an annual

must approve changes in director remuneration by

responsible for monitoring corporate compliance and

Board evaluation is undertaken and makes recommenda-

ordinary resolution.

influencing quality financial reporting and sound internal

not a member of management. The Rules of Coast

tions regarding Board effectiveness.

controls. The five current members of the Committee
8. Committees should be generally composed of outside

are all deemed by the Board to be financially literate and

5. Provide orientation and education programs for new

directors, the majority of whom are unrelated directors,

have accounting or related financial expertise. The

Board members: A sub-committee of the Governance

although some Board committees may include one or

Committee’s mandate is to annually review, approve and

& Member Relations Committee (Director Education sub-

more inside director: Committees are comprised solely of

recommend to the Board approval of policies and

committee) ensures that access to training and education

outside directors and, in all cases, the majority are

procedures relating to financial reporting, external audit,

is provided to directors to update, maintain and enhance

unrelated directors. Each Committee also has available to

risk management and internal audit, financial manage-

their skills and knowledge. As well, this sub-committee

it the CEO and such other members of management as

ment, business plan evaluation and social auditing.

ensures that all new directors have access to an orienta-

may from time to time be determined to be appropriate

tion program to familiarize themselves with all aspects

as resources.

13. Implement a system to enable individual directors

of the credit union and their individual responsibilities

to engage outside advisors at the Company’s expense:

and accountabilities as Board members. Credit union

9. The Board of Directors should expressly assume

The Board has adopted a policy that enables the Board of

legislation in BC mandates that all new directors elected

responsibility for, or assign a committee responsible for,

Directors, at the expense of the credit union, to engage

or appointed for the first time must complete seven

the corporation’s approach to corporate governance

the services of legal counsel who may be independent

computer-based training tutorials and an accompanying

issues: The Governance and Member Relations

and not represent the credit union in any other matter.

workshop within the first year of their election or appoint-

Committee is responsible to provide a focus on Board

ment to the Board. The mandatory tutorials consist of:

governance that will enhance the credit union’s

an Overview of the Credit Union System; Board’s Roles

performance.

Corporate Governance
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Board Committees
Board Executive
Human Resources
Conduct Review
Investment & Loan
Finance & Audit
Governance & Member Relations
Nominations & Election
Director Education (sub-committee)

Board of Directors & Executive Teams

Corporate Information

Lower Mainland Locations

West
Vancouver

North
Vancouver

Coast Capital Savings Locations
Surrey Metro Savings Locations

Coquitlam
Vancouver

Burnaby

Pitt
Meadows
Maple Ridge

Sidney

Richmond
Surrey

Central Saanich

Langley

Chilliwack

Delta
Abbotsford
Saanich

Executive

Joel Rosenberg
Chief Information Officer

David Munson
Chief Credit Officer

Bob Caldwell
Chief Operating Officer

Hermann Bessert
Chief Financial Officer

Ken Hahn
Senior Vice President,
Human Resources

Bruce Howell
Senior Vice President,
Integration

(front row)

(back row)

Terry Kennerley
Assistant Vice President,
Customer Relationship
Management

Sheila Baker
Assistant Vice President,
Direct Services

Ross Morrow
Assistant Vice President,
Retail Services
Dave Finner
Assistant Vice President,
Retail Services

Nancy McNeill
Senior Vice President,
Administration

Herb Jamieson
Assistant Vice President,
Retail Services
Trudi Kloepper
Senior Vice President,
Operations Support

Sheena Hanbury
Assistant Vice President,
Retail Services

Machines (ABMs), serving communities from southern
Vancouver Island, all the way through the Lower

Lawrie Ferguson
Vice President, Marketing

accounts are on one banking system (expected to

Rod Marr
Senior Vice President,
Commercial Services

to travel from Sooke to Chilliwack and conduct their

Mainland and Fraser Valley. Once all of our members’
occur in late 2003 or early 2004), members will be able
business with us at locations throughout the trip.

Lynn Roberts
Assistant Vice President,
Service Quality and Sales

■
Management Photography: Kent Kallberg

Head Office
Fourth Floor
15117 – 101 Avenue
Surrey, BC V3R 8P7
T: 604.517.7400
F: 604.517.7405

Principal Photography: Mark Gilbert

■

Georgiana Evans
Delta, 1993
Doug Stone
White Rock, 1994
Gordon Munn
Victoria, 1990

Frank Harper
Surrey, 1995
Tom Kirstein
White Rock, 1998
Christine Brodie
Richmond, 1993

Ken Martin
Surrey, 2002
Tilly Marxreiter
2nd Vice Chair
Richmond, 1995
Daniel Burns
Vancouver, 1994

We now have 42 branches and 76 Automated Banking

Geoff Parkin
Vice President, Subsidiaries

Doug Brawn
Surrey, 2000
Chris Craig
Sooke, 2002
Karen Kesteloo
Victoria, 1984
John Huska
Surrey, 1981
City of residence and year first
elected as a director is listed.

Board of Directors & Executive Teams

Island Administration Office
722 Cormorant Street
Victoria, BC V8W 1P8
T: 250.380.3100
F: 250.388.4700

Non-voting share
redemptions contact
Coast Capital Savings
Elaine Dun
T: 604.517.7461

Richmond Administration Office
300 – 5611 Cooney Road
Richmond, BC V6X 3J5
T: 604.273.8138
F: 604.273.7612

Registrar and transfer
information
Computershare Investor
Services Inc.
510 Burrard Street
Vancouver, BC V6C 3B9
T: 604.661.0222

For more location
information, visit
www.coastcapitalsavings.com

■

Bob Garnett
1st Vice Chair
Richmond, 1985

Expanding our reach
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John Jansen
Chilliwack, 1999

Bill Wellburn
Chair
Victoria, 1992

Esquimalt
Vancouver Island Locations

Board of DIrectors
Patricia Lane
Victoria, 1995

White Rock

Victoria
Sooke

Dennis Shaben
Assistant Vice President,
Wealth Management

Elizabeth Woods
Victoria, 1994

Tsawwassen
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T: 604.517.7000
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T: 250.953.5800
or 1.877.288.4466

Auditors
KPMG LLP
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777 Dunsmuir Street
Vancouver, BC V7Y 1K3
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Head Office
Fourth Floor
15117 – 101 Avenue
Surrey, BC V3R 8P7
T: 604.517.7400
F: 604.517.7405
www.coastcapitalsavings.com

Coast Capital Savings is one of only 550

The 50 Best program is a national

Canadian companies to earn recognition

competition that recognizes Canada’s

as a “Caring Company” by the Imagine

50 Best Managed Companies. Each

Program, an initiative of the Canadian

year the program identifies 50 great

Centre for Philanthropy.

Canadian businesses that have
implemented best business practices.

